
 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

Vermont Maple Sugar Makers’ Association 
P.O. Box 854, Richford VT 05476 

Phone: 802-777-2667 
www.VermontMaple.org 

 

Vermont Maple Sugar Makers’ Association 
Annual Meeting 

Thursday, July 21, 2022 
6:30pm – 8:00pm 

 
Join Zoom Meeting with your computer: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82003292821?pwd=WmNxVHphYVdpcGRMeUpINzRiQkNadz09 
 

Join Zoom Meeting with your telephone: 1 929 205 6099  
Meeting ID: 820 0329 2821 

Passcode: 362963 
 
 

 
 

Time 
 

Topic 
 

Topic Lead 
6:30 – 6:40pm Welcome, Introductions and Call to Order 

(motion and vote needed to approve the 
minutes of the 2021 Annual Meeting minutes) 

Emma Marvin, Board Chair 

6:40 – 6:50pm Treasurer’s Report Jason Gagne, Board Treasurer 

6:50 – 7:05pm VMSMA Year in Review & Year Ahead Allison Hope, Executive 
Director 

7:05 – 7:20pm IMSI Update Pam Green, IMSI Board Chair 
& VMSMA IMSI 

Representative 
7:20 – 7:40pm VMSMA Annual Award Winners: 

 
• Outstanding Sugar Maker Award 
• The Vermont Maple Person of the 

Year 
• Sumner Williams Lifetime 

Achievement Award 

Sam Cutting, Board Member 

7:40 – 8:00pm Member Q & A Arnie Piper, Board Vice Chair 

8:00pm Final thoughts & Adjourn meeting Arnie Piper, Board Vice Chair 

 
 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82003292821?pwd=WmNxVHphYVdpcGRMeUpINzRiQkNadz09


 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

Draft 
ANNUAL MEETING MINUTES 

Zoom Conference Online 
July 13, 2021 

Board Members present: Sam Cutting; Jason Gagne; Emma Marvin; Dave Folino; Arnie Piper; 
Dave Mance; Peter Purinton; Jeff Disorda; Ed Smith; James Buck; Paul Palmer; Ted Young; Reid 
Richardson; Donna Young; Arnold Coombs; Jenna Baird 

Members present: Cecile Branon; Kenn Hastings; Jacques Couture; Valerie Hastings; Jacob 
Powsner; Cody Armstrong; Jessica Judd; Ryan Marsh; Donald Gale; Dr. Abby van den Berg; Dr. 
Timothy Perkins; Peter Gregg; Jim Rowe; Sprague Huntington; Andy Aldrich; Douglas Worple; 
John Buck; Mary McCuaig; Chuck Bolton; Robert Baird; Garry & Eileen Trudell; Don & Wendy 
Tucker; Jim Davis; Pam Green; Dale Smith  

Staff present: Allison Hope; Cory Ayotte 

Motions 

1) A motion was made by Dave Mance to approve the 2020 meeting minutes. Ted Young seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved by all. 

2) A second motion was made by Ed Smith to ratify the actions taken at the 2020 Annual Meeting 
(we did not have a quorum at that meeting). The motion was seconded by Jacques Couture. The 
motion was approved by all. 

3) A motion was made by Dave Mance to approve the Treasurer’s Report. The motion was 
seconded by James Buck. The motion was approved by all. 

4) A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Dave Mance. The motion was seconded by Arnie 
Piper. The motion was approved by all. 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Emma Marvin at 6:01pm.  Before getting into the agenda 
topics, Emma acknowledged the hard work of the directors and the delegates. She continued by 
stating that they are the driving force of the Association and the voice of the members. Emma also 
gave gratitude to staff members, Allison Hope and Cory Ayotte, who have been nimble throughout 
the difficulties that have come with the pandemic. Finally, Emma wanted all in attendance to 
remember the individuals in the maple community who we lost in the past year. There was a 
moment of silence to remember those whom we have lost. 

Approval of Past Meeting Minutes 



 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

A motion was made by Dave Mance to approve the 2020 meeting minutes. Ted Young seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved by all.  

A second motion was made by Ed Smith to ratify the actions taken at the 2020 Annual Meeting (we 
did not have a quorum at that meeting). The motion was seconded by Jacques Couture. The motion 
was approved by all. 

Treasurer’s Report 
Emma started by thanking former treasurer Mark Bigelow for his many years of service to the 
Association. He was critical in setting a solid foundation for the Association’s budgeting processes 
and financial systems. Emma then thanked Jason Gagne for stepping into the role as treasurer. Jason 
Gagne reported that 2020 was a challenging year; the Association experienced financial hardship due 
to the pandemic and the cancellation of all fundraising events. In FY21, finances are looking 
stronger year to date. VMSMA received two PPP loans; one has already been forgiven (the loan was 
recognized in FY20 and forgiven in FY21) and we assume that the second one will be forgiven as 
well. Jason said it can be confusing to compare FY20 to current and prior year line items, as FY20 
certainly didn’t fit the typical narrative of most years, mainly because of the pandemic. James Buck 
asked if the $26,000 loss stated in 2020 reflected the PPP loan? Jason said it does not. Because the 
PPP loan was forgiven in FY21 it had to be reflected in the current year’s financials. If you apply the 
loan forgiveness to FY20, the Association only lost $5,000. That number is remarkable because at 
one point the association was expecting to lose up to $100,000.  

A motion was made by Dave Mance to approve the Treasurer’s Report. The motion was seconded 
by James Buck. The motion was approved by all. 

VMSMA Year in Review & Year Ahead 
Allison Hope shared that this past year was unique. All Board of Directors’ meetings were done via 
Zoom. In addition to sharing information on the pandemic and available loans and grants, we really 
worked to make sure that the Association was also applying for these grants. The Big E alone in a 
good year nets $75,000, so the lack of any income from the Big E in 2020 was a serious hit to our 
financials. Luckily, some state grants helped fill the gap left by the Big E. 

It was fun to look back at board reports and all the things we have all accomplished together this 
past year. Some highlights:  

• We created a Maple Gratitude Program that donated maple syrup to local hospitals 
throughout the state.  

• Cory and Allison completed improvements to the Association’s social media and website to 
help with consumer engagement.  



 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

o We added a jobs board to the website, which arose from the lack of in-person maple 
conferences in December 2020 where we would normally have a physical jobs board.  

o We added a board and staff page to the website with a photo and bio for each 
person.  

o We created a closed Facebook group for Association members; there are currently 
50-60 members in that group. We use this group to share timely information about 
research, events and news stories with members.  

o Cory did a lot of one of one work with members to help them with Facebook 
advertising and general social media questions (and he’s still available to consult with 
members on these topics).  

• We have continued creating quarterly printed newsletters and continued to publish a variety 
of sugar maker interviews. This past one included an interview with the new maple collective 
group, Tap O.N.E, in Burlington that included the next generation of some of our members.  

• The Education Committee along with our former Quality Director, David Tremblay, have 
spent a lot of time creating and rolling out the Sugarhouse Certification Program. The 
program is ready for sugar makers to sign up, but we will also work to ontinuously update it 
based on feedback and new information.  Allison is really excited to continue to share food 
safety standards with members on the Certification website. We want to make sure they’re in 
an accessible format for everyone, so we’re more than willing to mail paper copies to 
members who need them.  

• We updated the nutrition facts panel for Association containers, effective July 1, based on 
federal rules.  

• The Agency of Agriculture resumed maple retail inspections and Tucker Diego has shared 
that information during maple conferences and Board meetings.  

• VMSMA continues to partner with The Agency of Ag on their annual “Maple 100” fall 
maple celebration (this hear from September 15 – October 15). This is essentially an 
opportunity for sugar makers to host fall maple open houses (and other creative events). 
Partners for this event will include breweries, distilleries, cideries, restaurants, and other retail 
businesses. Given the pent up demand for travel and events, we expect plenty of tourists will 
be heading to Vermont in the fall.  

• In October, we held 12 county meetings via zoom. We recorded them all and they are all on 
the website. Some were well attended and some had just a few people, but all had very 
productive conversations regarding what members need in different parts of the state.   

• We had a good time with our week-long virtual Maple Conference Week in December. We 
held three sessions each day (9am, noon and 5pm) and no classes overlapped, which is often 
a criticism of the one day in person event. The recordings of those sessions are available on 
VMSMA’s website.  



 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

• A ReVTA grant allowed us to improve our Advanced Listings for members add more 
information and photos.   

• In December 2020, we offered a member raffle for those who renewed their membership 
this year. Gift cards were generously donated from D&G, CDL and Lapierre.  

• We are having a good year so far in 2021:  
o The Sugarhouse Certification Program has been launched and we have contracted 

with 4 Certifiers. Now that we’re in “launch” and “education” phases of the 
program, we’re working to sign up sugar makers and ensure they understand what is 
needed for successful Certification so this program can be self-sustaining in the long 
term.  

o We applied for “Congressionally Directed Spending” (CDS) through staff with 
Senator Leahy’s office to get financial assistance with Sugarhouse Certification over 
the next five years. The request was threefold – assistance with staffing costs; 
assistance with the gap created by charging <4,000 tap sugar makers less for 
Certification than if costs the Association to offer it; and a matching grant program 
for smaller sugar makers who need to make operational improvements in order to be 
Certified. This CDS request made it to the next step in the process and we’re waiting 
to hear what the budget allocations will be for all of the (many) requests that 
legislators have received. 

o We now have a Packaging Committee that is working on short-term and long-term 
solutions to timing and lack of containers from Hillside/Plastic Industries.  

o We were successfully in applying for a new Specialty Crop Block Grant through 
VAAMF focused on marketing Vermont Maple. That project and funding will begin 
this fall.  

o We’re preparing for the Big E this year (after a year off last year). We just had our 
vendor meeting for the Big E and it appears that it should be a good year for 
customers and sales. Mike Christian, while no longer the onsite Booth Manager, is 
doing a lot of work behind the scenes to make sure we’re ready for a successful 
season. Kenn Hastings and Meriah Disorda have joined the team to co-manage the 
booth this year.  

o VMSMA is looking to expand Maple Open House Weekend into two or more 
weekends this spring. We do a lot of marketing and we can get more out of it if we 
expand the event. Also, the season can really vary in different parts of the state and 
this gives sugar makers an option to participate when they feel it fits their sugaring 
schedule.  

o Mark Isselhardt, Cory and Allison are working on this year’s Maple Conference. We 
are looking into a hybrid format with an online and in-person component and 
offering those again in December this year. 



 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

 

IMSI Update 
Pam Green, IMSI Board Chair and VMSMA representative to IMSI, shared some updates on IMSI 
work.  

• There is an IMSI/NAMSC Conference upcoming in October. It will be in Niagara Falls, 
New York and folks are encouraged to register. The Atlantic Corporation will be keynote 
speaker at the conference, which IMSI will use also as an opportunity for attendees to ask 
questions about their recent dashboard created through a grant with VAAFM. Interested 
folks can register at nysmaple.com.  

• IMSI continues to provide support for grading schools. They will happen right after the 
conference.  

• The next thing IMSI is working on is considering options for sustainable maple funding. She 
encourages that everyone check out what honey is doing by searching online for “Honey 
Driving Demand 2020”. Honey was ranked the #1 sweetener in the world. Why not maple? 
It is because the industry doesn’t have sustainable funds to make it happen. Pam noted that 
VMSMA looked into this back in 2017/2018. IMSI is currently looking into grant programs 
which are hard to get at the federal level. IMSI is working with their consultant John 
Goldberg in Washington D.C. He is looking into what grants are available for maple.  

• The Standard of Identity for maple has been written and is aligned with Canada. 
• IMSI is moving forward with a new social media program, in partnership with Morning Ag 

Clips and an IMSI committee. IMSI is also continuing to update their website. Next year a 
consumer-facing website will be launched.  

• Lastly, all IMSI meetings are open to all members. VMSMA members are members of IMSI 
and are encouraged to participate. 

VMSMA Annual Award Winners 
Sam Cutting IV presented the Annual Maple Awards. He stated that each award has a long, proud 
heritage associated with them and that every single person who has received one in the past are 
legends in the industry, so those joining their ranks tonight should be very proud. 

Outstanding Sugar Maker Award: James Buck, Washington VT 

The VMSMA Board selects a Vermont sugar maker, individual, or family who sets a good example 
for other sugar makers to follow in cleanliness, food safety and production practices. In addition, 
nominees for this award help the maple industry by participating in county and statewide fairs to 
promote and educate future sugar makers and the general public on the benefits of pure Vermont 
maple syrup. This year, the Award was presented to James Buck. 



 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

James has repeatedly demonstrated a strong commitment to the Vermont maple industry through 
his work at his family's sugarbush and also through his work with the Vermont Maple Sugar Makers 
Association and his county association. James represents the majority of VMSMA’s membership; he 
combines a full-time job, balancing family responsibilities and a love of sugar making. James also 
represents a great number of newer sugar makers who have started from scratch. Like many sugar 
makers, he started sugaring on a very small scale in his backyard. And like many sugar makers, his 
operation and his commitment to maple has grown over the years. James and his father bought a 
chunk of land, cleared it, made their own lumber, and built their own sugarhouse. They are also 
concerned about the future of maple and have developed their sugarbush by continuing to thin and 
improve their woods for future generations. 

Vermont Maple Person of the Year: Mark Cannella, UVM Extension 

This award is presented to someone whose work benefits the entire maple industry and who may or 
may not be a sugar maker themselves. As a Farm Business Management Specialist with UVM 
Extension, Mark Cannella works with Vermont’s farms to help develop fiscal management tools and 
data. Mark’s work is invaluable to Vermont’s maple producers as well as the entire industry and their 
associated lending institutions. He has attended and presented at many maple conferences to share 
his knowledge and research with producers and other industry experts. Although Mark is not 
currently a maple producer, he cut his teeth sugaring when he was actively involved in the Shelburne 
Farms sugaring operation. 

Sumner Williams Lifetime Achievement Award: Mark Isselhardt, UVM Extension 

This award is presented in memory of Sumner Williams, the Assistant Director of the UVM Proctor 
Maple Research Center. In honor of him, the VMSMA Board recognizes outstanding service and 
dedication to the Vermont maple industry. This year’s recipient is Mark Isselhardt, Vermont’s Maple 
Specialist with UVM Extension. Mark works in the research field of maple and has worked tirelessly 
to provide the tools and knowledge to producers from Vermont and beyond that really make a 
difference. His research on achieving high sap yields, managing healthy sugarbushes, and creating 
efficiencies in syrup production has been invaluable to the maple community. Mark goes above and 
beyond to share his expertise with producers as well as being readily available and open to talk all 
things maple with any sugar maker. He has also been a huge part of the success of VMSMA’s 
Annual Maple Conferences. 

Member Q & A 
• Jacques Couture shared that he’s in northern Vermont and is sensing a lot of pent up 

demand for travel. He has noticed a lot more visitors to his business lately.  
• Ruth Goodrich said that they’ve seen a lot of traffic lately, too. She asked if other producers 

are seeing any damage from gypsy moths. Jeff Dissorda said that the southern part of the 



 
 

Vermont Maple…the Official Flavor of Vermont! 
 

Lake Champlain Valley has a lot of gypsy moths. Mark Isselhardt said that there are a lot of 
moths in the Champlain Valley and Franklin County. The moths haven’t moved eastward 
much. Mainly their feed sources have been oak and beech trees. Jason Gagne said a lot of 
trees (non-maple) have been stripped, but some are beginning to regrow. Pam Green said 
they’ve noticed just defoliation in oaks in her part of Rutland County. They’ve had a lot of 
rain and therefore a lot of bloated caterpillars that never had a chance to turn into moths. 
Jacques Couture said that this is the driest summer he’s seen in 50 some years. He’s curious 
how his trees will make out with all of that. They haven’t seen any moths to speak of.  

• Peter Gregg asked if Maplerama will return next year. Allison answered that it isn’t a 
conversation that VMSMA has had yet. Not all counties can handle the event, so we need to 
work with the counties that can do it. The VMSMA Marketing Committee will be working 
on this. 

• Cecile Branon asked if there had been a lot of interest in the Sugarhouse Certification 
program. She is working toward getting ready to be Certified. Allison noted that she’s in 
good company in terms of folks getting ready. She added that Jim Judd and Donna Young in 
Morgan were the first sugar house to be Certified and that we currently have one other in 
progress, as well as a plan for a training Certification for Certifiers to participate in. 

• Dr. Tim Perkins circled back to Jacques’ question and noted that it’s always hard to predict 
the season. Typically, drought and insects can lead to a tough season. Parts of the state have 
been in a drought for several years. 

• Emma reminded members that staff and board are always available for feedback and 
questions. Folks should reach out as needed to anyone with VMSMA with any questions or 
thoughts! 

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Dave Mance. The motion was seconded by Arnie 
Piper. The motion was approved by all. 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:24pm. 

  

 

 



 
 

1 
 

 
July 15, 2022 
 
To: VMSMA Board of Directors 
From: Allison Hope, Executive Director 
Re: FY21 Financial Narrative 
 
The Association closed out FY2021 with a net loss of ($2,774), compared to a budgeted loss of ($39,976). Below, 
I’ve highlighted significant differences from actual to budget, but please feel free to ask any clarifying questions if 
I haven’t addressed something here or call me to discuss.  

Income 
VMSMA recognized FY2021 income of $185,858 compared to a budget of $196,054. This compares to actual 
revenue of $250,502 for FY2020.  

4100 Membership Dues 
Membership dues came in at 23% under budget and very similar to FY2020.  

4200 Grant Revenue 
Grant revenue was 44% over budget and 60% over FY2020. The majority of this revenue was related to the 
forgiveness of VMSMA’s two PPP loans totaling $41,615. The remainder of the revenue comes from a small 
VAAFM grant supporting the winter Maple Conference and the final payment on a Working Lands grant 
initiated in a prior year. 

4400 Product Revenue 
Product revenue was slightly above budget, but less than FY2020 actuals due to the lack of events.  

4510 Events/Workshops 
We didn’t budget for revenue in this line item for the year. Negative income on this line is related to credits 
for the FY2021 Spring Open House that was cancelled, but for which income was recognized in FY2020. 

4530 Service Revenue - Certification 
This line item was budgeted to reflect anticipated revenue from VMSMA’s Sugarhouse Certification 
Program. While the launch and sign-ups didn’t happen as quickly as expected, we did experience slight net 
revenue from this new program. 
 

COGS 

5400 COGS – Inventory Items 
We ended the year above budget in this line item, due to needing to restock sample jars, jar caps, and 
cookbooks in the warehouse throughout the year. We also incurred costs for new clothing items in the 



 
 

2 
 

online store, VMSMA branded jugs for the Big E, supplies to create grading kits and new VMSMA-branded 
maple for sale signs for members.  

Expenses 
We ended FY2021 with total expenses of $154,085 or about $61,145 (28%) below budget. See below for details. 

6000 Wages & 6100 Payroll Taxes 
Through the end of the fiscal year, wages and payroll taxes tracked below budget based on changes to staff 
hours to react to the changing income landscape created by the pandemic. For FY2021, wages were 15% 
below budget and 36% below prior year-to-date actuals. 

6300 Advertising 
Advertising expenses tracked below budget and prior year due to the cancellation of most events that require 
budgeted advertising. 

6600 Licenses and Fees 
The largest expense in this category is generally the commission paid to the Vermont Agency of Agriculture 
(VAAFM), generally in November or December, based on sales from the Big E Booth. Because we withdrew 
from the Big E, but the Vermont Building was open, we paid $2,323 which represents 10% of an average of 
the last three years’ booth commissions. This was an unbudgeted expense for the year. 

6750 Printing & Publications 
This line item came in below budget due to the cancellation of March 2021 Maple Open House Weekend 
and associated printing costs for recipe cards and other items. 

6774 Professional Fees – Certification 
FY2021 fees reflect expenses related to Certifier training pay, onsite training for Certifiers at the Gagne 
sugarhouse in September, and payment for a handful of Sugarhouse Certifications (that are reflected in the 
income). 



Dec 31, 21

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
1015 · Stripe Account 3,635.52
1020 · Peoples Checking - 1044 67,435.73
1040 · Westfield Savings - 2839 52,048.11
1100 · Peoples CD - 5782 34,100.06
1120 · VT Maple Sugar Makers CD-1790 2,612.04

Total Checking/Savings 159,831.46

Other Current Assets
1300 · Accounts Receivable 10,655.62
1350 · Grant Receivable 1,980.00
1400 · Inventory 28,610.44

Total Other Current Assets 41,246.06

Total Current Assets 201,077.52

Fixed Assets
1500 · Equipment 15,089.00
1700 · Accumulated Depreciation -14,951.00

Total Fixed Assets 138.00

TOTAL ASSETS 201,215.52

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

20000 · *Accounts Payable 10,148.27

Total Accounts Payable 10,148.27

Credit Cards
2351 · Peoples Credit Card 2,401.24

Total Credit Cards 2,401.24

Other Current Liabilities
2300 · Deferred Revenue 3,196.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 3,196.00

Total Current Liabilities 15,745.51

Total Liabilities 15,745.51

Equity
3000 · Unrestricted Net Assets 188,244.05
Net Income -2,774.04

Total Equity 185,470.01

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 201,215.52

11:28 AM Vermont Maple Sugar Makers Assoc. Inc.
07/15/22 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of December 31, 2021

Page 1



FY2021 Actual vs Budget YTD
Dec Dec Dec Dec

YTD 2021
Actual

YTD 2021
Budget $ diff % diff YTD 2021

Actual
YTD 2020

Actual % diff

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

4000 · Contributions 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 100.00 -100%

4100 · Membership Dues 52,857.00 68,500.00 (15,643.00) -23% 52,857.00 52,740.00 0%

4200 · Grant Revenue 45,095.00 31,324.00 13,771.00 44% 45,095.00 112,095.71 -60%

4250 - Grant Revenue - Nongovernmental 2,143.10 0.00 2,143.10 #DIV/0! 2,143.10 3,034.00 -29%

4300 · Royalty Income 23,786.12 17,950.00 5,836.12 33% 23,786.12 19,062.78 25%

4400 · Product Revenue 43,618.23 41,500.00 2,118.23 5% 43,618.23 47,379.51 -8%

4500 · Service Revenue - Maple Public. 9,884.00 7,700.00 2,184.00 28% 9,884.00 8,652.00 14%

4510 · Service Revenue - Events/Wkshop (565.00) 0.00 (565.00) #DIV/0! (565.00) 4,822.00 -112%

4520 · Service Revenue - Other 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

4530 - Service Revenue - Certification 2,950.00 24,900.00 (21,950.00) -88% 2,950.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

4800 · Interest/Dividends 69.34 180.00 (110.66) -61% 69.34 125.05 -45%

4850 - Proceeds for Sale of Equipment 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

4875 - Advanced Web Listing 3,560.00 4,000.00 (440.00) -11% 3,560.00 2,150.00 66%

4900 · Other Income 2,460.00 0.00 2,460.00 #DIV/0! 2,460.00 341.05 621%

Total Income 185,857.79 196,054.00 (10,196.21) -5% 185,857.79 250,502.10 -26%

Cost of Goods Sold

5400 · COGS - Inventory Items 28,532.18 14,600.00 13,932.18 95% 28,532.18 12,665.71 125%

5500 · COGS - Printing & Distribution 6,015.00 6,875.00 (860.00) -13% 6,015.00 15,175.00 -60%

Total COGS 34,547.18 21,475.00 13,072.18 61% 34,547.18 27,840.71 24%

Gross Profit 151,310.61 174,579.00 (23,268.39) -13% 151,310.61 222,661.39 -32%

Expense

6000 · Wages 86,243.90 101,591.99 (15,348.09) -15% 86,243.90 135,779.25 -36%

6100 · Payroll Taxes 6,890.23 7,771.79 (881.56) -11% 6,890.23 10,877.20 -37%

6300 · Advertising 2,229.30 9,975.00 (7,745.70) -78% 2,229.30 10,263.98 -78%

6400 · Bank Charges 1,267.66 1,909.00 (641.34) -34% 1,267.66 2,755.99 -54%

6425 · Conferences 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 569.50 -100%

6450 · Dues and Subscriptions 9,547.73 9,475.00 72.73 1% 9,547.73 9,683.48 -1%

6460 · Education/Training 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 21.39 -100%

6475 - Equipment Leases 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

6500 · Insurance - General Liability 1,274.00 1,600.00 (326.00) -20% 1,274.00 1,197.00 6%

6502 · Insurance - Workers Comp 786.00 0.00 786.00 #DIV/0! 786.00 952.00 -17%

6503 · Insurance - Other 544.00 0.00 544.00 #DIV/0! 544.00 529.00 3%

6600 · Licenses and Fees 2,837.25 605.00 2,232.25 369% 2,837.25 707.59 301%

6650 · Meals/Entertainment 0.00 1,000.00 (1,000.00) -100% 0.00 11,738.91 -100%

6675 · Miscellaneous 543.04 400.00 143.04 36% 543.04 1,038.55 -48%

6680 · Office Expense 804.48 2,700.00 (1,895.52) -70% 804.48 2,499.18 -68%

6700 · Operating Supplies 4,115.01 3,750.00 365.01 10% 4,115.01 1,440.30 186%

6710 · Postage 393.44 300.00 93.44 31% 393.44 1,510.09 -74%

6750 · Printing and Publications 8,792.45 10,900.00 (2,107.55) -19% 8,792.45 18,782.69 -53%

6770 · Contractor 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

6774 - Professional Fees - Certification 2,098.00 32,625.00 (30,527.00) -94% 2,098.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

6775 · Professional Fees - Accounting 2,018.18 2,630.00 (611.82) -23% 2,018.18 6,261.78 -68%

6777 · Professional Fees - Legal 675.00 0.00 675.00 675.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

6778 · Professional Fees - Info. Tech. 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 3,950.00 -100%

6779 · Professional Fees - Other 4,052.25 5,100.00 (1,047.75) -21% 4,052.25 6,436.80 -37%

7000 - Repairs and Maintenance 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

7050 · Rent 2,993.11 3,000.00 (6.89) 0% 2,993.11 2,532.00 18%

7075 · Royalties Paid 0.00 3,000.00 (3,000.00) -100% 0.00 4,605.68 -100%

7100 · Shipping 5,396.24 4,750.00 646.24 14% 5,396.24 5,515.71 -2%

7500 - Utilities 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

7700 · Taxes - Sales Tax 0.00 250.00 (250.00) -100% 0.00 382.14 -100%

7800 · Telephone 1,160.32 1,800.00 (639.68) -36% 1,160.32 1,208.65 -4%

7900 · Travel 950.00 0.00 950.00 #DIV/0! 950.00 1,082.96 -12%

8500 · Internet 5,144.20 4,422.00 722.20 16% 5,144.20 3,028.56 70%

8700 · Vehicle Mileage Reimbursement 1,239.86 2,500.00 (1,260.14) -50% 1,239.86 1,979.83 -37%

9700 · Depreciation 2,089.00 2,500.00 (411.00) -16% 2,089.00 1,911.00 9%

9750 · Contributions/Grants 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

9800 - Interest Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0! 0.00 0.00 #DIV/0!

Total Expense 154,084.65 214,554.78 (60,470.13) -28% 154,084.65 249,241.21 -38%

Net Ordinary Income (2,774.04) (39,975.78) 37,201.74 -93% (2,774.04) (26,579.82) -90%

Net Income (2,774.04) (39,975.78) 37,201.74 -93% (2,774.04) (26,579.82) -90%




